UNITED
NATIONS C R C

. Distr.
Convention on the CENERAL
Rights of the Child CRC/ CI SR. 363

26 March 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fourteent h session
SUMMARY RECORD COF THE 363rd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 20 January 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: Ms. BELEMBAOCGO

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of New Zeal and (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmttee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 97-15286 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of New Zeal and (continued) (CRC/ 28/ Add. 3; HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 33;
CRC/C/ Q' NZ1.1 (List of issues); witten replies by the Governnent of
New Zeal and with no docunent synbol, in English only)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the New Zeal and del egation took a
place at the Committee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON wel comed the New Zeal and del egation and invited it to
i ntroduce New Zeal and's initial report (CRC/ C/ 28/ Add. 3).

3. Ms. G BSON (New Zeal and) said that her country was determned to fulfi
the obligations it had assuned under United Nations human rights instrunments
and to protect and pronote fundanental rights, including the rights of the
child. It had ratified the Convention on the Rights of the Child on

13 March 1993 and its legislation and practices were in conformty with that
i nstrument .

4, In supplementing the information set out in docunent HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 33,
she explained that in 1994 New Zeal and's popul ati on had been 3.66 m|lion, of
whom about 23 per cent were under 15 years of age. The popul ation was highly
ur bani zed and becom ng ethnically much nore diverse. The economc crisis of
the 1980s had to a | arge extent been overcone and the Governnent was once
again able to concentrate on certain key social issues. She noted, for
exanpl e, that the nunber of Muori and wonen nmenbers of Parlianent had
increased as a result of the recent adoption of the m xed nenber proportiona
representation system

5. One of the main conponents of the legal framework wi thin which
New Zeal and i npl enented its obligations under the Convention was the Children
Young Persons and Their Families Act of 1989. It was an innovative instrunent

since it required that decision-making power in respect of children should be
shared between social workers and famly nenbers in the best interest of the
child. The Act al so contained provisions on youth justice policy which were
inline with the requirenents of article 40 of the Convention and which
strongly enphasi zed diversion fromstatutory processes. The Act was al so

i nnovative in that it recognized the need for services and processes to be
culturally appropriate, particularly in respect of Maori, and that it was
based on the concept of the family in the broad sense. Moreover, the

appoi ntnent of a Conm ssioner for Children had placed New Zeal and at the
forefront of efforts to pronote human rights. She added that the

Commi ssioner's research on children's experience of violence had been used in
drafting the Donmestic Violence Act of 1995.

6. O her New Zeal and statutes designed to protect and prompte human rights
in general included the Human Ri ghts Act of 1993, the New Zeal and Bill of

Ri ghts Act of 1990, and the Privacy Act of 1993; a Privacy Conm ssioner had
al so been appointed. The conpatibility of adm nistrative practice with the



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 3

Human Ri ghts Act was to be eval uated before the year 2000 and woul d cover, for
exanpl e, the use of age to deternine social welfare entitlenents for children
as well as youth rates of pay.

7. Primary and secondary education for children between 5 and 19 years of
age was free and the number of children conpleting their secondary education
was increasing. The 1996 budget provided for the additional spending of

NZ$ 206 nmillion over a period of three years for the education of children
with special |earning needs. That additional support would be provided either
on an individual basis or through the operational grant to all schools. Maori
education programmes had al so been boosted with NZ$ 17.6 million. Lastly,

in 1996 the Education Act of 1989 had been amended in the |ight of the
Convention; for exanple, students facing suspension or expulsion from schoo
now had the right to appeal

8. New Zeal and had a conprehensive range of child and famly health
services and nost primary health services for children were free. The
authorities were particularly aware of the danger of traffic accidents and a
canpai gn |l aunched with the assistance of the Plunket Society had been of help
to parents in equipping their cars with restraints for children. As regards
efforts to reduce smoking, a bill had been submitted to Parlianment in 1996
rai sing the age at which tobacco could legally be sold to young persons
from16 to 18. The sale of single cigarettes and small packs of tobacco was
al so to be banned. An additional NZ$ 11.5 mllion was to be spent over three
years to make young persons nore aware of the dangers of tobacco. Simlar
programes woul d be directed at young expectant nothers and young Maori wonen.
The authorities, insurance conpani es and vari ous agencies were al so
undert aki ng acci dent prevention canpaigns. Lastly, the authorities had taken
measures to pronote the nental health of and prevent suicide anpong young
persons, and a specific strategy was bei ng devel oped to that end.

9. As for social welfare in general, she explained that funding for the
Chi |l dren and Young Persons and Their Family's Service had been increased by
NZ$ 11 million since 1995. Appropriations for the Ofice of the Comm ssioner
for Children were also increasing steadily, and under the 1996 budget over
NZ$ 7.9 million had been allocated to new comunity initiatives, and
particularly for expanded out-of-school care programmes and adol escent sex

of fenders intervention services.

10. The new Governnent forned in Decenber 1996 following the first election
under the proportional representation system had announced several initiatives
in respect of children. Expenditure on education would be increased by over
NZ$ 800 nmillion by the year 2000 and an additional amunt of NZ$ 10 million
woul d be allocated to early chil dhood educati on. Mreover, a Maori Education
Commi ssion woul d nonitor progress in Maori education

11. Heal th services would also be inproved and it was intended to provide
for free doctor's visits and prescription nedicine for children up to the age
of five. At the local level, sone primary health-care services would be
provided by famly health teans. A senior official of the Mnistry of Health
woul d be responsible for coordinating priority child health activities and
addi ti onal expenditure of up to NZ$ 30 million would be used to finance the



CRC/ ¢/ SR. 363
page 4

new initiatives. A Maori health pronotion unit had al so been proposed
and priority activities designed to pronote child health would be revi ewed
in 1997.

12. In the welfare sector, all neasures to pronote the interests of the
famly and the child would be coordinated by a famly service which woul d
initially be allocated a budget of NzZ$ 70 million. New violence prevention
programes were envi saged, as well as greater financial support for needy
famlies. Children would also benefit, either directly or indirectly, from
vari ous ot her nmeasures proposed, particularly in respect of child support,

enpl oynment, housing and wages, as well as fromvarious other initiatives (such
as associating the armed forces with the training of young persons).

13. All those neasures clearly reveal ed New Zeal and's determ nation to
conply with its obligations under the Convention

14. M. HAMVARBERG asked whet her the new Governnment woul d do everything
possi bl e, regardless of the economic situation, to achieve its objectives
under the budget for the social sector, and whether in-depth studies had been
carried out to evaluate the inpact on children of the econom c policy pursued
since the m d-1980s as well as the needs of the nobst vul nerabl e segments of

t he popul ati on on which the Governnment intended to concentrate its efforts as
a matter of priority. It would be useful in that connection to know how t he
Government made sure that di sadvantaged groups actually received the

assi stance nade avail able for them He also asked what was being done by the
Government within the limts of avail able budgetary resources to inplenent the
rights recognized in the Convention and whether the specific interests of
children were taken into account when the national budget was prepared.
Lastly, he wished to know how the activities of the various mnistries and
agencies dealing with children, and particularly those of the Comm ssioner for
Chi l dren, were coordinated.

15. Ms. SANTOS PAIS said it was gratifying to know that a Comr ssioner for
Chi l dren had been appointed, that a Human Ri ghts Commi ssion exam ned
conplaints submtted by children, that the Human Ri ghts Act prohibited

di scrim nation based on age and that there was a body, nanely the Education
Review O fice, which evaluated the education provided in schools.

16. She requested the New Zeal and del egati on to indicate whether the
Government intended to withdraw the three reservations it had fornulated in
respect of the Convention. The first, according to which nothing in the
Convention woul d prevent the Governnent from continuing to make a distinction
bet ween persons on the basis of their status in New Zeal and, appeared

i ncompatible with article 2 of the Convention as well as with article 22,

whi ch placed States parties under a duty to provide appropriate protection and
humani t ari an assi stance to children seeking refugee status. In its second
reservation, the New Zeal and Government took the view that the rights of the
child enbodied in article 32, paragraph 1, were duly protected by existing

| egi sl ation and reserved the right not to adopt the additional neasures set
out in article 32, paragraph 2. Yet the neasures contained in that paragraph
were extrenely inmportant since they were intended to protect the child agai nst
any work likely to be hazardous, or to interfere with his education or to be
harnful to his health or physical, nmental, spiritual, nmoral or socia



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 5

devel opnent. Lastly, inits third reservation the Governnent reserved the
right not to apply article 37 (c) when, for want of adequate facilities, it
was i nmpossible to separate children deprived of liberty fromadults. It was
stated in that respect in paragraph 361 of the report that separate youth
prisons woul d inhibit reintegration because offenders would have to be noved
away fromtheir communities. |In that connection she enphasized that the

i mprisonnment of children should be used only as a neasure of |ast resort

(art. 37 (b)) and that if that step was necessary, young detai nees could very
easily be separated fromadult detainees within the same prison. It could be
possible for a child deprived of liberty not to be separated fromadults only
if the authorities considered such action to be in his best interests - for
exanple if the parents had al so been sentenced to a term of inprisonnment.

17. It would i ndeed be useful to know whether the activities of the many

m nistries and bodies dealing with children were duly coordi nated. For
exanple, it was stated in the report that the Mnistry of Youth Affairs dealt
wi th young persons between 12 and 25 years of age and she wondered which body
dealt with children under 12 years of age. Lastly, she would |ike to know
whet her the Conmi ssioner for Children had the financial and human resources as
well as the political independence necessary to carry out his task properly.

18. M. MOMBESHORA asked whet her New Zeal and intended to adopt a nationa

pl an of action, in accordance with the recomendations of the World Summt for
Chi |l dren, whether the results of the survey of the situation of children were
known and what proportion of the population |ived bel ow the poverty threshol d.

19. Ms. BADRAN expressed the hope that New Zeal and' s reservations in
respect of the Convention would be w thdrawn and that, before enbarking on
econom c reforms, the CGovernnent would endeavour to anticipate and prevent
their possible negative econom c, social and political inmpact on the nost

vul nerabl e segnments of the population, and particularly children. She also
asked whet her the Governnent's action in providing non-governmnental

organi zati ons (NGOs) with subsidies and purchasing certain services fromthem
mght not limt their independence, what human rights training was received by
soci al workers, what were the main causes of suicide, in which segnments of the
popul ation the suicide rate was the highest and what steps were being taken to
i nprove the situation.

20. M ss MASON asked whether Maori had retained sone of their customary | aws
and, if so, whether they took precedence over national |aws which were at
variance with them and whether the Mnistry for Maori Devel opnent was staffed
exclusively by Maori.

21. Referring to the neasures taken to make the Convention wi dely known
(paras. 12 to 15 of the report), she wondered how far children were associ ated
with that initiative and whether the booklet on children's rights and adult
responsibilities nentioned in paragraph 14 of the report had been distributed
in all schools and, if so, whether the results had been positive.

22. Lastly, with respect to discrimnation agai nst persons who were not of
Eur opean origin, she asked what steps were being taken, in accordance with
article 29 of the Convention, to develop the child's respect for tolerance in
general and for civilizations different fromhis own in particular



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 6

23. Ms. SARDENBERG asked to what extent the CGovernnent's policy for
children was influenced by NGOs and civil society and what specific role was
pl ayed by the Mnistry of Youth Affairs.

24. Inits reply to question 2, the del egation had nenti oned the Sel ect
Conmittees of Parlianent, and she wondered what the nandate of those
conmittees was and whet her Parlianent had conmttees responsible specifically
for children's affairs. Furthernmore, inits reply to question 3, the

del egation had recogni zed that the devel opment of a strategy involving both
users and suppliers of statistics on children would provide nore consi stent
and accurate figures; had the new Governnent taken any steps in that
direction? Lastly, paragraph 12 of the report stated that sone New Zeal anders
were concerned that the Convention would interfere with their rights as
parents and that the Governnment had assured themthat ratificati on woul d not
mean a change in the relationship between parents and their children. Yet one
of the Convention's objectives was precisely to establish a new rel ationship
in that respect. It would be interesting to know what the del egation had to
say on the subject.

25. Ms. EUFEM O while welconming the increase in appropriations for
children, said it was unfortunate that, in the absence of accurate indicators,
it was difficult to evaluate exactly how actual services had inproved.
Moreover, in view of the delegation's statenent that decision-making power in
the area of child protection would be shared between social workers and famly
menbers, she wondered how social workers, accustoned to dealing with socia

wel fare matters, would be trained to nonitor the inplementation of the rights
enbodied in the Act. Wre there enough such workers, despite cutbacks, to
provi de services to the entire popul ation, including the inhabitants of the
nost renote islands?

26. She al so wondered whether all the articles of the Convention had been
duly analysed with a viewto the collection of targeted data and the
preparati on of the conbined indicators that were indispensable if the proposed
pl an of action was to be followed up. Lastly, she wondered how budgetary
policy, which was apparently designed to accord priority to the nost

di sadvant aged children, affected famlies whose i ncomes placed themjust above
t he poverty I evel

27. Ms. KARP wondered whether the evaluation of econonic policies fromthe
standpoi nt of their inpact on the situation of children was carried out on the
basis of traditional indicators such as the poverty |evel, the unenpl oynment
rate or housing conditions. Mreover, she wondered how the trend to privatize
services in New Zeal and affected the situation of children and whether the

i mpl enent ati on of social policies for indigenous mnorities would continue in
t hat context.

28. Noting that the provisions of the Convention applied to children up to
the age of 18, she asked whether the New Zeal and authorities had consi dered
adopting a system of statistics nore conpatible with that cut-off age. She

al so asked what guarantee there was of the independence of the Comm ssioner
for Children, for it was her understanding that his resources were provided by
one of the services for which he was responsi ble and not by an independent
outsi de body. Lastly, she would like to know how soci al workers and vari ous



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 7

categories of officials in general were instructed in the principles of the
Convention, what was the status of the Convention in national |aw, whether its
text had been disseminated in the | anguages of various ethnic groups and

whet her the inpact of its inplenentation on children of ethnic mnorities had
been eval uat ed.

29. M. KOOSOV requested clarification of the proposed extension of the
scope of the Convention to Tokél aou

30. Ms. G BSON (New Zeal and), replying to an initial series of questions on
t he coordination of various activities on behalf of children, explained that
the reformof the public sector had consisted in assigning increased
responsibility to the senior officials of mnistries and that correspondi ng
procedures for the establishment of reports on the basis of the

responsi bilities and objectives thus established had been introduced.

Consul tations al so took place between the senior officials responsible for
various sectors in order to ensure that any action taken was conpl ementary.
Cooperation was particularly close between the Mnistry of Social Wlfare, the
M ni stry of Education, the Mnistry of Health, the judiciary and the police in
respect of activities affecting children

The neeting was suspended at 11.55 a.m and resuned at 12.10 p. m

31. Ms. G BSON (New Zeal and), resumi ng, said that there was one official in
nost gover nment bodi es who was assigned the task of nonitoring specific
aspects of policies that mght affect the situation of children. Moreover,
persons responsi ble for the el aboration of policies were paying increasing

i nportance to the integration of the evaluation procedures in their work

32. From a budgetary standpoint, the new Government was deeply comritted to
the achi evement of its objectives, but a nunber of political hurdles had yet
to be overcone.

33. M. LISTER (New Zeal and), replying to the questions put by nenbers of
the Conmittee concerning the reservations entered in respect of the Convention
(see paras. 336, 360 and 368 of the initial report), said that the sole
purpose of the first reservation was to permt the application of the
necessary measures agai nst persons who were illegally on New Zeal and
territory, in accordance with the internationally-recognized principle that a
sovereign State should be able to control its frontiers. The reservation in
respect of article 37 (c) of the Convention was designed to authorize, in the
best interests of the child, the holding of children and adults together in
prison as offering the best possible solution. As for the reservation in
respect of article 32 of the Convention, he referred to the text of the
written reply to the Committee's first question, and added that the

New Zeal and authorities were still giving thought to the possible wthdrawa
of the three reservations or at |east one or two of them

34. M. ANGUS (New Zeal and), responding to the request for additiona

i nformati on about the functions of the Comni ssioner for Children, said that
hi s i ndependence was guaranteed by the Children, Young Persons and Their

Fam lies Act. The Conmi ssioner was responsible exclusively to the Mnistry of
Social Affairs and was at liberty to conment on the Government's policy as he



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 8

saw fit. The fact that his workl oad had increased considerably during the
past few years indicated that machinery for evaluating conpl aints was wel
established. Furthernore, his budget had been increased, from NZ$ 550,000 in
1995- 1996 to NZ$ 790,000 in 1996-1997. |In 1992 the Governnent had consi dered
the possibility of making the Commi ssioner responsible to Parlianent but had
deci ded that that would not increase his influence or efficiency.
Neverthel ess, the matter was to be reviewed in the near future.

35. He al so expl ai ned that, generally speaking, and on the basis of
agreenents, the Governnent financed NGOs whi ch provi ded services in respect of
a specific objective. That procedure reflected a |long-standing tradition in
New Zeal and, but the NGOs could remain conpletely independent. |t was obvious
however, that if financing by the authorities were to increase, NGOs woul d
tend to be less critical of them

36. The CHAI RPERSON invited nmenbers of the Committee to conment on the first
series of replies.

37. M. HAMVARBERG said it would be useful to know what overall strategy the
New Zeal and Governnent had adopted in its efforts to provide a better
understandi ng of the interaction between various mnistries and agencies
dealing with children, and suggested that it mght well consider introducing a
speci fic national plan of action for children. Moreover, it was difficult to
under stand how NGOs coul d preserve their independence if they were financially
dependent on the Governnent.

38. Ms. SANTOS PAIS said that New Zeal and's clear-cut commitnents to
children were nost gratifying. Unfortunately there appeared to be a certain

| ack of coordination between various mnistries and governnment bodies, and
priorities in that area should therefore be identified nore clearly by the new
Governnment. She failed to understand the reason for New Zeal and's first
reservation since its purpose was not, according to the del egation, to deprive
refugees and asylum seekers of the protection afforded by the Convention. She
took note of the reservations entered in respect of article 37 (c) in view of
the need to separate children deprived of liberty fromadults, but wondered
whet her it would not be better for the New Zeal and Government to enphasize the
reintegration of such children in society.

39. M ss MASON endorsed the views expressed by the previous speaker, and
asked whet her the New Zeal and CGovernnent had consi dered adopting specific
measures for the reintegration of young delinquents into society.

40. M s. SARDENBERG supported the observations nmade by ot her nmenbers of the
Committee. She regretted the absence of a gl obal strategy and integrated
policy for children and that, for exanple, 94 per cent of the inhabitants of
nmount ai nous regi ons had never heard of the Convention

41. Ms. G BSON (New Zeal and) expl ai ned that the coordination policy for
children was based on a governnent docunment entitled Strategic Result Areas,
whi ch described the various nmechani snms introduced in that connection for
1994-1997; however, sone inprovenents were admittedly possible, particularly
as regards the evaluation of policies for children. NGOs were participating
in the elaboration and inplenentation of government policies on children's



CRC/ C/ SR. 363
page 9

rights, and cooperation had been established with some of themwith a viewto
the preparation of the initial report. That cooperation was continuing and
was proving useful.

42. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited nmenbers of the Conmittee to put questions on the
sections of the list of issues entitled “Definition of the child” and “Cenera
principles”.

43. M ss MASON asked whet her the New Zeal and Governnment had identified the
causes of the high suicide rate anong young girls. Ws it connected with the
sexual harassment nentioned in paragraph 312 of the initial report?

44. Ms. SANTOS PAI S wondered whet her the Children, Young Persons and Their
Fam |ies Act of 1989 took into account all the provisions of the Convention
and whether it was evaluated fromtine to tine. Referring to the question of
the age of crimnal liability, she enphasized that it should be brought into
line with the I egal age of the child in accordance with the provisions of the
United Nations Standard M nimum Rules for the Adm nistration of Juvenile
Justice (the Beijing Rules). Moreover, it would be useful to consider the
possibility of placing young delinquents in re-education centres, rather than
keeping themin prison, and providing for their reintegration in society in
the spirit of article 37 of the Convention

The neeting rose at 1.05 p. m




